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GLOSSARY


Bawn a fortified walled enclosure, part of a tower-house or medieval castle


Bronze Age approximately between 2400 BC and 500 BC; between the Stone Age and Iron Age


Cairn a mound of stones


Capstone a massive stone, weighing as much as 100 tonnes, covering a megalithic tomb


Cashel a stone-built circular enclosure


Celt Iron Age culture arriving in Ireland around 300 BC


Chevaux-de-frise projecting sharp stones placed in the ground outside an Iron Age Fort to deter an enemy


Corbel a stone projecting from a wall face, designed to support a widening of the wall or a wooden beam


Court-tomb earliest kind of megalithic burial site


Crannòg ancient lake dwelling


Dolmen megalithic tomb consisting of a flat stone laid on upright ones


Gaeltacht an Irish-speaking district


Hillfort enclosed sites, usually of several hectares/acres, consisting of one or more banks and ditches surrounding a hilltop, often following the contours of the land


Iron Age from circa 500 BC to the arrival of Christianity; the period most associated with Ireland’s ‘Royal’ sites such as Tara and Rathcroghan


Keep the central tower of a castle


Martello Tower tower built on coasts for protection against an expected Napoleonic invasion by sea


Megalithic ‘big stone’ a term that refers to the many different types of large prehistoric stone tombs


Neolithic late Stone Age, 4000 BC–2000 BC


Ogham an Irish script from the early centuries AD inscribed on standing stones


Passage Grave a megalithic tomb consisting of a corridor of stones leading to a burial chamber


Penal Laws a series of repressive laws that originated in the seventeenth century, and were imposed on Roman Catholics and Protestant dissenters


Ráth (or ringfort) ancient dwelling place surrounded by a rampart


Ringfort these are known by a variety of names, including fort, ráth, dún, lios, cashel and caher. They consist of an area, usually circular, enclosed by one or more earthen banks or, occasionally, by stone walls


Romanesque a style of architecture using the Roman or semi-circular arch, which was a favoured style in Ireland during the twelfth century


Society of United Irishmen a revolutionary republican organisation that launched the 1798 Rising in Ireland with the objective of ending British monarchical rule over Ireland and founding an independent Irish Republic


Stone Circle a ring of standing stones, usually freestanding, enclosing an open area, sometimes with a grave or burial mound at the centre


The Ulster Cycle one of the four great cycles of Irish mythology, is a body of medieval Irish heroic legends and sagas of the traditional heroes of the Ulaid in what is now eastern Ulster and northern Leinster


Wedge Tomb the most numerous of Ireland’s megalithic tombs, usually date to the Late Neolithic or Early Bronze Age periods


****


Irish words associated with landmarks


In visiting many of the landmarks that are outlined in this book, you will find that many Irish words remain an intrinsic part of site names and towns, etc. Here are some of the most common such words:


Abhainn (owen) river


Ard/Art height


Áth ford


Baile town


Beag (beg) small


Carraig (carrick) rock


Cill (kill) church or monk’s cell


Cloch stone


Cnoc (knock) hill


Dearg (derg) red


Droichead bridge


Droim (drum) back or ridge of a hill


Dubh black


Dún a fort


Inis (Inish) island


Lios (lis) fort (also Dún)


Mágh plain


Mór (more) large


Mullach (mullagh) peak


Ráth ringfort


Sliabh (slieve) mountain


Teach (ti, tigh) church, house


Teampall (temple) church


Trá strand


Tulach hill, hillock




INTRODUCTION


The term ‘landmark’ can conjure up many subjective definitions when thinking about Ireland. Should it be confined to geographical features such as Croagh Patrick or the River Shannon? Or should it factor in city buildings such as the Mansion House in Dublin?


This book strives to be as inclusive as possible, featuring an array of landmarks: from rivers, hills, mountains and loughs to historic monuments and the built environment such as Drombeg Stone Circles in County Cork and the Guildhall in Derry. It features the ‘old’ – or ancient – and the ‘new’ – or modern.


Ancient sites proliferate throughout Ireland, including the world’s oldest Stone Age monuments at the Céide Fields in County Mayo. Early Christian churches, round towers and charismatic castles reflect a diverse history over thousands of years.


Mythology is closely associated with many ancient landmarks in Ireland – the Giant’s Causeway and Fionn Mac Cumhaill is one of the most famous, and I have endeavoured to mention stories and legends attached to some of these landmarks.


The landmarks mentioned are just some examples of those that are visited by thousands of people each year. The warm Céad Míle Fáilte (a hundred thousand welcomes) that is offered to guests indeed speaks volumes, contributing to the island’s reputation as ‘Ireland of the Welcomes’.


And it is not just Irish people who visit these landmarks. Irish tourism from overseas has enjoyed a resurgence in recent years. According to Tourism Ireland, there was a 17 per cent growth in visitors from outside Ireland for the first quarter of 2016. This translates into an increased number of people across the globe having the opportunity to view our many wonderful Irish landmarks.


This book celebrates the diversity of Ireland – from the Wild Atlantic Way and its rugged natural wonders such as the Cliffs of Moher, to the urban centres that contain landmark buildings such as Trinity College in Dublin, as well as city icons such as the ‘Samson and Goliath’ cranes in Belfast.


This book details a selection of these Irish landmarks – from the natural (the Dark Hedges) to the ancient (Newgrange) to the recent (Dublin’s iconic Spire on O’Connell Street, thought to be the tallest sculpture in the world).


While many of the landmarks mentioned in this book belong to a specific county, such as Slemish Mountain in County Antrim, there are certain landmarks such as rivers that flow through several counties – and in some cases different provinces.


I have referred to the subjective nature of this selection and, admittedly, there are landmarks selected that are nostalgic to me as a result of my own experiences. But I hope I have selected a broad and diverse range that gives you the reader a flavour of the many inspiring landmarks that are found throughout the island of Ireland.


For anyone who has the pleasure of visiting any of these Irish landmarks, I offer this traditional Irish blessing of goodwill on your journey:




May the road rise to meet you,


May the wind be always at your back,


The sunshine warm upon your face,


The rainfall soft upon your fields.





IRISH PROVINCES


The Old Irish word for province, cóiced, (now cúige) also means a fifth. Some scholars believe that as well as the current four provinces – Connacht (west); Leinster (east); Munster (south); Ulster (north), there was also a mystical fifth province – Mide. It was thought to be the central province around which the others formed. In terms of place, it is thought to be the Hill of Uisneach, now in County Westmeath (see Chapter 2).


The current Irish provinces include the thirty-two counties of Ireland that are referred to during the course of this book:


Connacht


The western province, Connacht, is bounded by the River Shannon in the east and the Atlantic Ocean in the west. There are many outstanding geographical landmarks in Connacht, such as Croagh Patrick, a mountain in County Mayo, and Lough Corrib. Connacht has five counties:
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Galway


Leitrim


Mayo


Roscommon


Sligo


Leinster


The south-east province, it also includes the mythical fifth province of Mide. It is here that the Hill of Uisneach, the symbolic centre of Ireland, is found. This spiritual heritage can also be found at sites such as Knowth and Tara in County Meath. The capital city of Dublin contains landmarks such as the ‘Ha’Penny Bridge’. Leinster has twelve counties:


Carlow


Dublin


Kildare


Kilkenny


Laois


Longford


Louth


Meath


Offaly


Westmeath


Wexford


Wicklow


Munster


The south-west province, with coastal landmarks such as the Cliffs of Moher in County Clare and islands such as Valentia in County Kerry, can be breathtaking. Man-made structures such as Blarney Castle in County Cork and the numerous stone circles such as Drombeg prove the diversity of this province’s many landmarks. The six counties of Munster are:


Clare


Cork


Kerry


Limerick


Tipperary


Waterford


Ulster


The northern province, with nine counties. It is a province of stone circles and dolmens, and the largest lake in Ireland, Lough Neagh – with five of Ulster’s counties touching its shores. Ulster is closely associated with Ireland’s patron saint, Patrick, who spent time in his youth at Slemish Mountain in County Antrim. The nine Ulster counties are:


Antrim


Armagh


Cavan


Derry


Donegal


Down


Fermanagh


Monaghan


Tyrone


PROMOTING IRISH LANDMARKS


Ireland is one natural island entity in geographical terms, and this is recognised by organisations such as Fáilte Ireland* and Tourism Ireland* that seek to promote the many landmarks that exist across the island.


In political terms, Ireland was partitioned in 1921, following the War of Independence (1919–21) and the passing of the Government of Ireland Act, which became law on 3 May 1921. The six north-eastern counties of Ulster became known as the ‘north’, or Northern Ireland, which was part of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (UK) and the remaining twenty-six counties became the ‘south’, later Éire and later again the Republic of Ireland.


It was not until 18 April 1949 (Easter Monday) that the ‘south’ became independent and officially known as the ‘Republic of Ireland’. Under the Irish Constitution the country is now known simply as Ireland, or Éire in the Irish language, while six of the Ulster counties form Northern Ireland.


The legacy of partition is a complex and often difficult narrative, but this book seeks to portray an array of Irish landmarks, irrespective of what side of the Irish border they are located. In many cases, there are landmarks that straddle both sides, such as the River Erne.


*Fáilte Ireland is the National Tourism Development Authority, whose role is to support the Irish tourism industry and work to sustain Ireland as a high-quality and competitive tourism destination. Fáilte Ireland promotes Ireland as a holiday destination through their domestic marketing campaign (www.discoverireland.ie) and manage a network of nationwide tourist information centres that provide help and advice for visitors to Ireland.


*Tourism Ireland is responsible for marketing the island of Ireland overseas as a holiday and business tourism destination. It was established as one of the ‘six areas of co-operation’ under the framework of the Good Friday Agreement of 1998. Its remit is to increase tourism to the island of Ireland and to support Northern Ireland to realise its tourism potential.
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ICONIC COASTAL LANDMARKS, ISLANDS AND LIGHTHOUSES


From Malin Head in the far north to Mizen Head in the far south, the Irish coastline is a treasure trove as far as landmarks are concerned. The Ordnance Survey of Ireland estimates the total length of coastline around the island to be 3,171 kilometres (1,970 miles).


Apart from the many beautiful headlands, peninsulas and beaches located along the coastline such as the Dingle Peninsula in County Kerry and Marble Hill Beach in County Donegal, there are some man-made landmarks that have caught the attention of munitir na háite (local people of the area) and visitors alike. These include the marvellous Mussenden Temple in County Antrim, and the iconic Hook Head Lighthouse in County Wexford. Here is a look at these and many other coastal landmarks.


ISLANDS


Ireland itself is an island in the North Atlantic, and it is surrounded by approximately eighty islands of significant size. Only about twenty of these are inhabited, but there are hundreds of other smaller islets dotted around the Irish coast: in the Irish Sea on the eastern coast; and in the Atlantic Ocean to the west and north and the Celtic Sea to the south.


Many of these larger islands are landmarks in their own right. Here is a look at some of those in a clockwise direction starting with Rathlin Island in the north-east of Ireland:


County Antrim


Rathlin Island (Oileán Reachlainn)


Located 9.65 kilometres (6 miles) from Ballycastle on the north coast of County Antrim – and only 25.7 kilometres (16 miles) from the Mull of Kintyre in Scotland – Rathlin measures about 14.2 square kilometres (5.5 square miles).


This proximity to Scotland led to disputes over Rathlin’s ownership – and was finally settled in 1617 by a unique test: if a snake could survive on the island, it would be taken as being part of Scotland; if it died then Ireland would own it. The snake did not survive!


Rathlin has at times had a difficult history, surviving three massacres and the famine of 1846. Local stories tell of 300 islanders leaving on the same day during that year. Rathlin gave shelter to numerous famous figures, including Robert the Bruce, who hid there after being defeated by the English at Perth in 1306. While hidden in a cave in Rathlin, he drew inspiration from a spider, which tried seven times to bridge the gap between two rocks.


There are many legends associated with the island, including one about an enchanted island that appears from the sea once every seven years. The legend suggests that if you lift a stone from under your feet in Rathlin and throw it onto the island, then it will never disappear again.


County Dublin


Lambay Island


Lambay derives from Old Norse meaning ‘lamb island’, and lies off the coast of north County Dublin. It is the largest island off the east coast of Ireland (and the most easterly point). In AD 795 the first ever raid by the Vikings on Ireland happened on this island.


Lambay is of note for its diversity of breeding seabirds. The populations of cormorant, herring gull and guillemot are the largest in Ireland and the puffin colony is the only known one on the east coast.


Ireland’s Eye (Inis Mac Neasáin)


An early Christian monastic site, Ireland’s Eye is a small, uninhabited island off the coast of County Dublin, situated directly north of Howth Harbour. Around AD 700 three sons of St Nessan established a monastery here. The church became known as Cill Mac Nesáin from which the island got its name in Irish. The ‘Garland of Howth’ is a fragment of a medieval Irish gospel book, now kept in Trinity College Dublin. It was written at the monastery on Ireland’s Eye and is believed to date from the late ninth to early tenth centuries.


Cill Mac Nesáin ceased to function as a church in the thirteenth century, and is now in ruins. In the early nineteenth century a Martello Tower was built on the island to defend against attack from Napoleon’s France.


County Wexford


Saltee Islands


The Saltee Islands, the 90-hectare (22-acre) Great Saltee and the 40-hectare (98-acre) Little Saltee lie 4.8 kilometres (3 miles) off Kilmore Quay on the south coast at County Wexford, where an arched deposit of rocks connects the smaller of the two islands to the mainland. The islands were once the haunt of privateers and smugglers, but now they are one of Europe’s most important bird sanctuaries. There are also monuments and references to Prince Michael of Saltee on the island. He bought the island in 1943 and crowned himself prince in 1972.


County Cork


Cape Clear Island (Oileán Cléire)


Cape Clear is one of only two Gaeltacht (an area where Irish is the predominant language) in County Cork. There is the ruin of a lighthouse on the island, which was the main landfall light for ships arriving from America during most of the nineteenth century. One of Clear Island’s historic ruins is Dún an Óir (Fort of Gold) established by the O’Driscoll clan.


The Fastnet Rock


Located south of Cape Clear Island, this is the most southerly point of land in Ireland – it was known locally as the ‘Teardrop of Ireland’, as the lighthouse was often the last bit of Ireland emigrants would see en route to North America.


Dursey Island (Oileán Baoi)


Translated from Viking Norse as ‘Island of the Bull’, Dursey Island, at 6.5 kilometres (4 miles) long and 1.5 kilometres (0.93 miles) wide, lies at the south-western tip of the Beara Peninsula in the west of County Cork. It is one of the few inhabited islands that lie off the south-west coast of Ireland. Dursey Island is notable for the cable car suspended 26 metres (85 feet) above the waves that travels across its narrow sound and connects it to the mainland. It can transport six people, ten sheep or one cow!


County Kerry


Skellig Islands (Na Scealaga)


The Skelligs, better known as Sceilig Mhichíl (Great Skellig) and Sceilig Beag (Little Skellig), rise from the Atlantic Ocean 10 kilometres (6 miles) west off the coast of Portmagee.


While there are two islands, it is the larger one that grabs all the headlines. Sceilig Mhichíl was founded in the sixth century and is a site of monastic settlement of the early-Christian period, attracting large numbers of pilgrims and tourists annually. It is the westernmost sacred site along a long line of ancient pilgrimage places running from the west of Ireland through France, Italy and Greece, and then onto Mount Carmel in Palestine.


The first known historical reference to the island comes from the end of the fifth century AD when the King of Munster fled to Sceilig Mhichíl, while the Annals of Inisfallen record a Viking attack in AD 823.


Sceilig Mhichíl was uninhabited prior to the foundation of its Christian monastery on the island, estimated to have been between the sixth and eighth centuries. The first recorded reference to monastic activity on the island is a record of the death of ‘Suibhini of Skelig’ dating from the eighth century. However, St Fionán is claimed to have founded the monastery in the sixth century.


The island was dedicated to St Michael somewhere between 950 and 1050. It was customary to build a new church to celebrate a dedication, and this date fits well with the architectural style of the oldest part of the existing church, known as St Michael’s Church. Incidentally, St Michael was the patron saint of high places and the guardian against the powers of darkness.


The monastic site on the island is located on a terraced shelf 183 metres (600 feet) above sea level, and also contains six beehive cells and two oratories, as well as a large number of stone crosses and slabs. The stone dwellings on the island were all made using a technique known as ‘corbelling’. The cells and oratories are all of dry-built corbel construction. Over 100 stone crosses of varying sizes have been recorded on the island. The two largest are highly decorated and are located to the north and south of the Large Oratory.


This detailed cluster of huts, oratories and crosses is located following a steep climb of stone steps. Facing southwards and sheltered from the winds, the site was favoured by ascetic monks desiring to live a remote life.


At a rocky crag located further up on the south peak of Sceilig Mhichíl called the Needle’s Eye, is another oratory, though inaccessible today, that was favoured as a pilgrimage destination even after the monks departed the island.


The monastery remained continuously occupied until as late as the thirteenth century. During this time, the climate around Sceilig Mhichíl became cooler and more prone to storms. This, along with changes to the structure of the Irish Church, prompted the community to abandon the island and move to the abbey in Ballinskelligs. The island continued to be venerated as a place of pilgrimage in the following centuries.


In 1826, the owner sold the island to the Corporation for Preserving and Improving the Port of Dublin (later to become the Commissioners of Irish Lights), who built two lighthouses on the Atlantic side, and furthermore established the importance of Sceilig Mhichíl in Ireland’s maritime history.


As a result of the extreme remoteness of Sceilig Mhichíl, which has until recently discouraged visitors, the site is exceptionally well preserved. In 1996, UNESCO inscribed the island of Sceilig Mhichíl, along with the remains of the monastery, as a World Heritage Site in recognition of its ‘outstanding universal value to humanity’. More recently it was featured in two Star Wars films, making it an even more popular destination for tourists.


Valentia Island (Oileán Dairbhre)


Located off the Iveragh Peninsula on the south-west Kerry coast, Valentia is 26 square kilometres (10 square miles) in area, making it the third largest island off the coast of Ireland. It is linked to the mainland by the Maurice O’Neill Memorial Bridge.




Landmark fact: The island was the site of one end of the first permanent communications link between Europe and Newfoundland in North America. Transatlantic telegraph cables operated from Valentia Island from 27 July 1866, and were replaced regularly until the 1960s.





Blasket Islands (Na Blascaodaí)


The Great Blasket Island, the most westerly point in Europe, is the largest of the group of Blasket Islands located 4.8 kilometres (3 miles) off the tip of the Dingle Peninsula. It is 458 hectares (1,132 acres) in area, being 6.5 kilometres (4 miles) long but very narrow, and rising to 292.6 metres (960 feet).


The Blaskets are famous for their beautiful setting – and their writers. Three of them wrote autobiographies that became literary classics: Tomás Ó Crohan, The Islandman (1934); Peig Sayers, An Old Woman’s Reflections (1978); and Maurice O’Sullivan, Twenty Years A’Growing (1933) – a remarkable literary output from one small, remote island.


There was a gradual exodus from the island during the first half of the twentieth century. At one point in the early part of the century, 215 people lived there. However, by 1953–54, the island was finally abandoned by its last remaining twenty inhabitants.


County Galway


The Aran Islands (Oileáin Árann)


The three Aran Islands, while set across the mouth of Galway Bay, are actually closer in distance to County Clare. The earliest inhabitants were the Fír Bolg, who later lost the islands to the Eoghanachta of Munster. They have had numerous owners since then, including the O’Brien family in the eleventh century. A very distinctive feature of the Aran Islands is their stone walls: approximately 1,600 kilometres (995 miles) of hand-built dry stone walls divide the land.


Inis Mór – ‘big island’


Inis Mór is the largest of the three Aran Islands at 3,089 hectares (7,635 acres). There is a saying, ‘Next Parish Boston’, given it is located on the extremity of Ireland and indeed Europe. It includes the following ancient stone forts among its antiquities:


Dún Aengus Fort


Three ancient forts form an intrinsic part of Inis Mór, and perhaps the most spectacular of these sites is the fort of Dún Aengus – a huge semi-circular ringfort of three concentric enclosures lodged on the edge of cliffs that plunge 90 metres (295 feet) into the Atlantic Ocean.


The name Dún Aengus means Fort of Aengus; and it is named after Aengus of the Fír Bolg, the ancient clan who were said to have ruled Ireland for thirty-seven years before being usurped by the Tuatha Dé Danann. Dún Aengus is protected by remarkable ‘chevaux de frise’ – defensive stone spikes that once had the intention of deterring unwanted visitors.


Excavations carried out in the 1990s indicated that people had been living at the hilltop from around 1500 BC, with the first walls and dwelling houses being erected around 1100 BC. These excavations revealed significant evidence of prehistoric metalworking, as well as several houses and burial places.


Dún Dúcathair


Another fort on the island is Dún Dúcathair (the Black Fort), which has grown in popularity with tourists over the past few years. This is a promontory fort, and what remains is a massive stone wall, straddling an ever-shrinking headland, precariously placed between cliffs. Late Bronze Age objects such as rings, tools, beads and foodstuffs found on site are now on display in the National Museum of Ireland in Dublin.


Hy Brasil


Sometimes visible west of the cliffs of Inis Mór is the outline of what looks like a mountainous island. This is a mirage, a mythical island called Hy Brasil that features in ancient Aran stories as the Island of the Blessed. Until the sixteenth century, Hy Brasil was actually marked on maps. The island is associated with the high king of the Celtic world, Bresal, who established his court on the island.


Inish Maan (Inis Meáin) Middle Island


The second largest of the islands is 911.3 hectares (2,252 acres) in area. Dún Conchúir (Conor’s Fort) is an impressive fort based on this island, and it commands great views. Synge’s Chair (named in honour of famous Irish playwright J.M. Synge who spent a number of summers on the island) is a semi-circular stone wall that offers a sheltered spot to gaze towards Inis Mór, just as Synge himself might have done.


Inisheer (Inis Oírr) Island of the East


The smallest of the Aran Islands, measures 464.5 hectares (1,148 acres) in area. There are a number of landmarks on Inis Oírr, such as Creggankeel fort and the fourteenth-century O’Brien’s Castle – taken from the O’Briens by the O’Flaherty clan of Connemara in 1582, and which occupies the island’s highest point.


St MacDara’s Island (Oileán Mhic Dara)


This beautiful island is located 7 kilometres (4.3 miles) south of the entrance to Bertraghboy Bay; the twelfth-century church on the eastern shore of this 24.2-hectare (60-acre) island is on the site of a monastery founded by a sixth-century saint named MacDara. The saint’s festival is on 16 July, when pilgrims come to the island from the mainland.


County Mayo


Achill Island (Oileán Acla)


Connected to the mainland by a bridge at Achill Sound, Achill is 145 square kilometres (56.5 square miles) in area, making it by far the largest island off the coast of Ireland, and more than four times the size of the second largest island, Inis Mór.


Achill has a history of human settlement that is at least 5,000 years old. The remains of megalithic tombs and monuments suggest settlement by Neolithic man in the third or fourth centuries BC.


The L-shaped island is also the most populous Irish island. The first bridge to connect Achill Island to the County Mayo mainland was built in 1887 at Achill Sound, and was named after the founder of the Irish Land League, Michael Davitt.


One of the possible origins of the name Achill is the Gaelic word acaill, meaning eagle. Travellers often remarked on the golden eagles and white-tailed sea eagles on Achill, mainly on the peaks of Croaghaun, a mountain that dominates the western end of the island, although the last reported sighting of an eagle on Achill was in 1912.
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